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in the nomination documentation.
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tems in Nomination:

Amended

Geographical Data:
UTM reference point Number 1 should read: 10 5571120 4184840

UTM reference points Number 2 and Number 3 were reversed on the nomination form.

In order for the UTM points to create a polygon that approximately encompasses the entire nominated area
new points have been added and the original points renumbered. The UTM reference points should now
read as follows:

1 10 551120 4184840
2 10 552400 4184760
3 10 553060 4184100
4 10 554240 4182320
5 10 554300 4180900
6 10 554060 4180820
7 10 553420 4183060
8 10 551380 4184550

These clarifications were confirmed with the CA SHPO office.

DISTRIBUTION:
National Register property file
Nominating Authority (without nomination attachment)
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This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in Complete the
National Register of Historic Places Registration Form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by marking "x" in the appropriate box or
by entering the information requested. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For functions,
architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions. Place additional
entries and narrative items on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10-900a). Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer, to complete all items.

1. Name of Property

historic name Port of San Francisco Embarcadero Historic District

other names/site number

2. Location

street & number From Pier 45 to Pier 48, The Embarcadero NA [] not for publication
city or town San Francisco NA[] vicinity

state California code CA_ county San Francisco___code 075__ zip code 94111

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

iftoric Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, | hereby certify that this [ nomination

As the designated authority under the National
g documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of

{3 request for determipgti

JiCriteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant [ nationally
( [ See continuatioh sheet for additional comments.)

- - P
Signature of certifying official/Title Date

California Office of Historic Preservation o
State or Federal agency and bureal

In my opinion, the property [] meets ] does not meet the National Hegisier criteria. ( ] See continuation sheet for additional
comments.)

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certification

| Rereby certify that this property is: 7{ Signatupepf the Keeper, Date of Action
tered in the National Register ’Qﬂ ﬂ / /
{1 See continuation sheet. . 3//2/) 20060
/ 7

[0 determined eligible for the / 7
National Register
] See continuation sheet.
] determined not eligible for the
National Register

[J removed from the National
Register

[ other (explain):
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California

Ownership of Property (Check as many boxes as apply)
__ bprivate
X public-local
__ public-State

public-Federal

Category of Property {(Check only one box)
building(s)

district

site

structure

object

e

Number of Resources within Property
Contributing  Noncontributing

28 7 buildings
sites
19 6 structures
objects
47 13 Total
Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register 5
Ferry Building (listed 1978) - 1 resource
Agriculture Building (listed 1978) - 1 resource
Pier 1 (individual listing 5 January 1999) - 1 resource

Central Embarcadero Piers Historic District: Piers 1,

3 resources (one is repeated)

1%, 3, and 5 (listed 20 November 2002) -

Name of related multiple property listing (Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property

listing.) N/A

Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: Transportation Sub: Water-related
Transportation Rail-related
Transportation Road-related (vehicular)
Commerce Warehouse
Commerce Business
Commerce Restaurant
Government Government office
Government Post Office
Government Fire Station

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)

Cat: Transportation Sub: Water-related
Transportation Road-related (vehicular)
Transportation Pedestrian-related
Commerce Business
Commerce Professional
Commerce Restaurant
Commerce Warehouse
Government Government office
Government Fire Station

Recreation and Culture

Outdoor recreation

Recreation and Culture

Fair

Recreation and Culture

Monument /Marker

work in progress

Materials ({(Enter categories from instructions)

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from
instructions)

Late 19th and 20th Century revivals
Sub: Mission/Spanish Colonial Revival

____Beaux Arts

Late Gothic Revival

Italian Renaissance

Other: utilitarian

Other: no style

foundation concrete
roof asphalt
walls concrete
walls weatherboard
walls stucco

walls sandstone
walls brick

other iron

other terra cotta

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more

continuation sheets.)
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Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the
criteria qualifying the property for National Register listing)

Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad
patterns of our history.

Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or
represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack individual
distinction.

Property has yielded, or is likely to yield information important in prehistory or history.

b
o

0w

o}

Criteria Considerations (Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes.

removed from its original location.

a birthplace or a grave.

a cemetery.

a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

a commemorative property.

g less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 50 years.

T

hO O Do

Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions)
GOVERNMENT
COMMERCE
TRANSPORTATION
OTHER: LABOR
ARCHITECTURE
ENGINEERING
COMMUNITY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

Period of Significance 1878~1946
Significant Dates 1934

Significant Person (Complete if Criterion B is marked above) Bridges, Harry

Cultural Affiliation N/A

Architect/Builder Board of State Harbor Commissioners (Assistant State Engineer and Chief Engineer)
Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of the property on one or more
continuation sheets.)

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation
sheets.) :

Previous documentation on file (NPS)

preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested.
previously listed in the National Register

previously determined eligible by the National Register

designated a National Historic Landmark

recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #

recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #

Primary Location of Additional Data

____ State Historic Preservation Office
Other State agency

Federal agency

Local government

University

Other

{
< |
|

Name of repository: Port of San Francisco




Port of San Francisco Embarcadero Historic District San Francisco County, CAte

10._Geographical Data

Acreage of Property Approximately 60 acres

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)

Zone Eésting Northing Zone Easting Northing
1 10 §51120 4184840 210 553060 4184100

J 10 554240 4182320 "4 10 554300 4180900
[5 See continuation sheet. (¢ K)

Verbal Boundary Description
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification
(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitie Michael R. Corbett with Marjorie Dobkin and William Kostura (see continuation sheet)

organization URS Corporation September 30, 2002
street & number 2054 University Avenue, Room 505 4 telephone 510-548-4223
city or town Berkeley state CA___ zip code 94704

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets

Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

{Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)
Name Port of San Francisco
street & number Pier 1 telephone 415-274-0400

city or town San Francisco__ state CA___ zip code 94111

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain

a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including the time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.0. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Project (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-
0018
(10-90)

United State Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Revised Draft, January 2006
Port of San Francisco Embarcadero Historic District

Page 1

GUIDE TO USERS

The National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) registration form is four pages long and
includes eleven sections. Sections 1 through 6 are presented in full on the registration forms in
the preceding pages. Sections 7 through 11, which require more space, begin on the form and
continue on continuation sheets in the following pages. Section numbers and Page numbers are
identified in the header for each page. Each section starts with Page 1 and continues to the end
of that section, with the subsequent section starting with its own Page 1.

The organization of the entire nomination, including the registration form, continuation sheets,
and additional documentation, is presented below. The first time reader will understand the
Historic District more readily by starting with Section 8, which provides a comprehensive
overview of the Embarcadero Historic District.. For information on the specific resources within
the District, go directly to Section 7.

Sec. 1-6 National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) Form 4 pages
Guide to Users | 2 pages
Sec. 7 Description 210 pages

Description of the District, and the individual
contributing, and non-contributing resources

Sec. 8 Statement of Significance 226 pages
Origin and development of the Embarcadero waterfront, and
historical contexts and evaluations under criteria A (Government,
Commerce, Transportation and Labor), B (Labor) and C
(Engineering, and related areas of Architecture, and Community
Planning and Development)

Definitions 7 pages
Sec. 9 Major Bibliographical References 28 pages
Sec. 10 Geographical Data I page

District size, location, and boundaries

Sec. 11 Form Prepared by Authors 1 page
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Additional
Documentation Geographic map of the District (oversized, original 1 page
in Office of Historic Preservation file.

Sketch maps 2 pages

- Sketch map-District boundaries

- Bulkhead Wharf section map
Figures Tllustrations of seawall and bulkhead wharf 4 pages

Aerial photograph of the waterfront

Photographs 10 pages
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SUMMARY

The Port of San Francisco Embarcadero Historic District consists of over twenty piers and
remnants of piers, a bulkhead wharf in twenty-one sections, a seawall, the Ferry Building, the
Agriculture Building, and a collection of smaller buildings. These features are located along a
three-mile stretch of San Francisco’s waterfront in a discontiguous band broken into two parts
separated by a water channel — China Basin. While most of the district lies north of China
Basin, an area consisting of features associated with Pier 48 lies south of it. Within the
boundaries of the district, the great majority of resources are eligible for the National Register of
Historic Places, either individually or as contributors to the historic district.

In the descriptions below, the first structure to be described will be the seawall, which can be
regarded as the foundation upon which the rest of the waterfront was constructed. The seawall
description will be followed by descriptions of the hulkhead wharf and its sections, the piers, and
assorted buildings. The seawall is counted as two structures — one in each of the two
discontigvous parts of the district. The twenty-three sections of the bulkhead wharf are treated as
twenty-three separate resources.

Maps and an aerial photograph of the district showing boundaries and contributing and non-
contributing resources can be found after Section 11 at the end of this document.

For definitions of Port terminology and historic district resources refer to Section 8, Definitions,
page 220.

Contributing resources are as follows:
Seawall:

from Pier 45 to China Basin- structure
at Pier 48 — structure

Buikhead Wharf:

Pier 45 Section — structure
Section 2 — structure



NPS Form 10-9GC-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(10-90)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 7 Revised Draft, January 2006
Port of San Franciscc Embarcadero Historic District
Page 11

Section 3 - structure
Section 4 — structure
Section 5 - structure
Section 6 — structure
Section 7 — structure
Section 8a - structure
Section 8b — structure
Section 8 — structure
Section 9 — structure
Section 10 — structure
Section 11a — structure
Section 11 - structure
Section 12 — structure
Pier 48 Section— structure

Piers and Buildings:

Pier 45 - building

Pier 43 (Car Ferry Headhouse) - structure
Pier 35 — building

Pier 33 - building

Pier 31 — building

Pier 29 — building

Pier 29 Annex (Belt Railroad) — building
Pier 23 Restaurant — building

Pier 23 - building

Pier 19 - building

Pier 17 - building

Pier 15 - building

Pier 9 - building

Pier 5 - building

Pier 3 (including Pier 1%2) - building
Pier 1 — building

Ferry Building — building

Agriculture Building — building

Fire Station 35 (at Pier 22'2) — building
Pier 24 Annex — building
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Pier 26 -- building

Pier 26 Annex — building

Pier 28 — building

Pier 282 Restaurant — building

Pier 36 — building

Pier 38 — building

Pier 40 — building

Java House Restaurant, near Pier 40 — building
Pier 48 — building

Non-contributing resources are as follows:

Bulkhead wharf Section B — structure
Franciscan Restaurant, near Pier 432 — building
Bulkhead wharf Section A — structure

Pier 41Y2 (portion on bulkhead wharf) — building
Bulkhead wharf Section 1 — structure

Pier 39 (portion on bulkhead wharf) — building
Pier 29 Office building — building

Pier 27 Terminal — building

Pier 15-17 Quay — structure

Terminal Office Building, Pier 15-17 — building
Pier 7 (Waterfront Restaurant) — building

Bulkhead wharf Section 13 — structure
Pier 46 Bulkhead Wharf Section - structure

Archeological resources are not addressed in this document.

ORGANIZATION OF SECTION 7

Individual resources are described in Section 7, below. These resources are organized by type —
seawall, bulkhead wharf sections, pier and bulkhead connectors, and buildings — sc that the
types can be introduced separately. In addition, histories of these resources are included here,
following the descriptions. These histories illuminate aspects of the descriptions, and they are
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easier to use if they are presented here. These individual resource histories also supplement the
thematic histories presented in Section 8.

Within the boundaries of the district there is a variety of types of buildings and structures. Many
of these have complex interrelationships with one another that present difficulties in defining
resources for the purposes of the National Register. For example, some complexes of features —
notably the piers (each typically consisting of a transit shed, a bulkhead building, a pier
substructure, and a section of the bulkhead wharf, all attached to the seawall) — are commonly
known by a single name. This unified identity is often complicated by the histories of individual
piers whose features may have been built under separate contracts at separate times. Moreover,
while the seawall and the bulkhead wharf are essential to the construction of each pier, at the
same time, they are linear features that are equally important to all piers.

For ihe purposes of this nomination, the seawall is consicered as two contributing resources,
separated by China Basin. The bulkhead wharf is considered as twenty-one separate resources,
sixteen of which are contributing and five of which are non-contributing. Each pier is also
considered as a single resource, consisting typically of a transit shed, a bulkhead building, and a
pier substructure. Similarly, buildings on the bulkhead wharf (e.g., Pier 29 Annex, Fire Station
35, the Agriculture Building, and the Java House Restaurant) are each considered separate
resources which are built over two other separate resources — the seawall and the bulkhead
wharf.

Following the long-time practice at the port, the resources (sections of the bulkhead wharf, piers,
and buildings) are presented from north to south.

CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES

SEAWALL

Figures illustrating the design of the seawall and the bulkhead wharf can be found after Section
11 at the end of this document.
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Description

The 1878 — 1915 seawall is in two discontiguous pieces — from Pier 45 to China Basin, and for
500 feet at Pier 48 on the water bay front south of China Basin. The seawall on the north and
south sides of China Basin inshore of the water bay front is not included in the district.

The seawall is a linear embankment of stone, concrete, and wood, which defines San Francisco’s
waterfront for over four miles along a curving line from the foot of Jones Street on the north to
the mouth of China Basin on the east, and for an additional 500 feet south of China Basin. After
fragments of a seawall were built in 1867-1869, a new realigned seawall was built from the foot
of Taylor Street to China Basin over a period of 37 years, from 1878 to 1915, in twenty-one
sections. This seawall was extended south of China Basin by 1910 (500 feet of this,
corresponding to the 500 feet of the bulkhead wharf which was built for Pier 48, lies within the
historic district) and one block west of Taylor Street t©: Jones Street by 1929. The 1878-1915
seawall is two contributing resources™ in this historic district. The old 1867-1869 seawall is a
potential archeological resource that was not considered in defining the district. It is assumed to
lie largely if not entirely inshore of the district. Nevertheless, pieces of the old seawall may be
incorporated in the new seawall.

The design of the sections of the 1878 — 1915 seawall varied depending in part on when they
were built, and in part on soil conditions. The design of the original 1867 — 1869 seawall was
illustrated by Lauren E. Crane, “expert on the construction of the seawall,” in 1882 (Crane
1882). This design appears to have been followed in the construction of twelve sections of the
seawall from 1878 to 1905 (in chronological order, sections A, 1, 2, 3,4, 5, 6, 7, 8b, B, 8a, 13).
This seawall consists of a pile of rocks, called a rock embankment, rising from a trench that was
originally dug 20 feet deep and 100 feet wide. At mean high water, the embankment rises almost
40 feet above its base. The natural slopes of the embankment on either side rise to a flat top
about ten feet wide. The outer toe of the sloring bay side of the embankment is located close to
the water front line as defined by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Wooden piles driven
through the rock embankment from the toe to the inside edge of the flat top originally supported
a wood wharf called a bulkhead wharf, generally ranging from 27 to 60 feet wide. By this means
a useable surface was created over the sloping seawall to the edge of the water front line. Inland
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of the rock pile lies earthen fill, described by Crane as an “earth embankment.” In the earliest
contracts, this embankment was built so that the bulkhead wharf and the earth embankment
together provided a flat surface for a thoroughfare that was 200 feet wide at the level defined as
the City Base. Between the earth embankment and the 1851 water front line were mud flats of
varying widths that were subsequently filled.

With the availability of bond money in 1909, sections 8, 9, 10, 11, and 12 of the 1878 - 1915
seawall, south of the Ferry Building, were built to revised specifications, probably by H. J.
Brunnier in the Board of State Harbor Commissioners’ engineering department. An article in the
San Francisco Call in 1910 described this as “a type of seawall construction entirely different
from any heretofore constructed in this harbor” (Stafford 1910a), later described by the San
Francisco Examiner as “especially strong” (San Francisco Examiner 1915b). While in some
respects the general character of this seawall was similar, the structural supports for the bulkhead
wharf, the materials, and the process of construction wete different. In these sections, the trench
was first partially filled with rock. Then, concrete piles were driven through the rock ril and
more rock was added around the piles to a point 30 feet below City Base. From that point, a
reinforced concrete will was built along the crest of the pile and more rocks were filled around
the wall. The wall and the caps of the concrete piles then formed a surface for a frame of steel
beamis to support the bulkhead wharf. (Newman 1915:326) Variations of this new design were
built in sections 8, 9, and 10 (BSHC 1910:29-31, 34).

Although this revised system was designed in large part to counter the effects of settling,
portions of the 1878 — 1915 seawall continued to settle. Sections 9a and 9b, the last to be buili,
were raised in 1917 and again in 1931-1932 after settling damaged the seawall, the wharves and
piers, and the buildings on them (BSHC [1932]:21).

Studies showed that soil conditions ranged from hard surfaces to deep soft mud, situations that
called for different design solutions. Among these was the use of creosoted wood piles in place
of concrete in some situations (BSHC 1914:32). The seawall under the Agricuiture Building (the
Post Office at that time) settled unevenly, damaging the building. The building was jacked up
and the seawall was raised in the mid-1920s (BSHC 1926:56-57).



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(10-90)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 7 Revised Draft, January 2006
Port of San Franciscoc Embarcadero Historic District
Page 16

The seawall is obscured from view by the bulkhead wharves and piers in all but two places. One
of these places is near the foot of Folsom Street, a short distance north of Fire Station 35. Here,
a promenade descends by means of a concrete staircase to the water, affording a view of the
seawall. The other place the seawall is visible is between Piers 36 and 38. Here, the bulkhead
wharf is only 10 feet in depth, and the seawall is easily visible from adjoining piers.

Although the seawall is mostly invisible, it remains intact at most places beneath the
Embarcadero, and it continues to serve its original function of retaining landfill and acting as an
abutment against which piers and wharves can be built. According to current (2003) Port
Engineering, staff the 1878 — 1915 seawall has been little altered since it was completed in 1915
and portions were raised in 1932 due to settling — it has been repaired as needed over the years
to maintain its original function.

Construction History

The need for a seawall in San Francisco was first recognized in 1851 (BSHC 1877-1878:9). A
seawall was seen as a way to provide a fixed shoreline, to protect buildings along the shoreline,
and to protect the value of waterfront property. As the early port was developed haphazardly by
private interests under weak city control, it became increasingly clear that not only was a seawall
needed but that neither the city nor private interests were capable of getting the job done. The
takeover of the waterfront by the state of California and the creation of the Board of State Harbor
Commissioners in 1863 was largely driven by the need for a scawall.

The first action of the Harbor Commissioners after acquiring the waterfront and settling title
issues was to address the seawall question. Two local engineers, William J. Lewis and G. F.
Allardt, proposed a plan for the seawall to be built following the water front line established by
the Board of Tide Land Commissioners in 1851 (Dow 1973:17). This was a zigzag line defined
by the edges of an extension of the city’s grid over shallow tide lands along the existing shore.
Lewis was hired as the Superintendent and Constructing Engineer for the seawall and presented
the plan in the First Annual Report of the Engineer of Sea Wall on the Water Front of San
Francisco of 1866 — a subsection of the Biennial Report of 1867. The plan and specifications
tor construction of the seawall were published in the Biennial Report of 1867. The first two
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sections of the seawall were completed in 1869 and the third section was started in 1869 — these
were the only sections of the first seawall to be built. The seawall appears to have been built in a
simpler manner than was specified. (Newman 1915:326) It was an embankment of piled rocks
with naturally sloping sides, 60 feet wide at its base in a trench dug for the purpose, and 13 feet
across the top (City Base). It was built without a facing of large slabs on the water side and a
masonry wall beginning at the mean low tide line. Behind this wall, sand and dirt were dumped,
transforming the tide lands into solid ground whose streets were publicly owned and whose
blocks were privately owned. As before, piers were built as extensions of streets projecting in a
variety of angles to the waterfront.

In 1870, Thomas J. Arnold was placed in charge of the seawall and given the title “Engineer of
Sea Wall” (BSHC 1871). In 1873, Arnold reported that construction on the seawall had stopped
due to a lack of money. He stated that the seawall was a well-designed and well-built structure
whose zigzag alignment appeared to be causing problems. The irregular waterfront line created
pockets where mud and silt accumulated and the various angles of variously sized piers
contributed to the problem. “The only remedy,” according to Arnold was, “a modification of the
line of the water front . . . and the enactment of such laws as would enable the Board to construct
the wharves in such a manner, and upon such lines, that they would restrict the currents of the
bay as little as possible” (BSHC 1873:13). The report included a map with a proposed
waterfront line similar to that which was built and which survives today (2002).

In 1875, a federal Advisory Commission was appointed “for the purpose of determining proper
harbor lines and considering any matter affecting harbor interests” (BSHC 1875) — “notably the
issue of a new line for the seawall. The commission, consisting of Rear Admiral John Rodgers,
U.S. Navy; Colonel George H. Mendel, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; and Professor George
Davidson, U.S. Coastal Survey, issued its report in March 1877. In the meantime, in February
1876, the state legislature required that a new waterfront line be established by the governor, the
mayor of San Francisco, and the Harbor Commissioners following input from consulting
engineers with the engineer of the Harbor Commission. Following the recommendations of the
federal Advisory Commission and T. J. Amold, a new waterfront line was established as
presented in the Report of the Board of State Harbor Commissioners on the New Water-Front
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Line of San Francisco to the Legislature of the State of California in December 1877. This was
a gently curving line designed for economical construction and to facilitate the uninterrupted
flow of tidal currents which would scour the surface of the harbor and minimize silting.

In addition, the line was placed so that the fill behind the seawall would be wide enough to allow
“a thoroughfare two hundred feet in width along the whole city front” (BSHC 1877-1878:5). In
addition to this thoroughfare, the fill between the new seawall on the new waterfront line and the
old seawall on the 1851 line of the Tide Lands Commissioners, would provide a substantial
amount of new land — called seawall lots — that would be owned by the Harbor
Commissioners.

The new 1878 — 1915 seawall ran from Jones Street on the north side of the city to China Basin
on the east, a distance of about four miles. It was to be built in sections because its funding was
projected to come from the revenues of the port and would only be available in amounts
sufficient to build sections of one thousand feet or less at a time. To accomplish this, the seawall
was divided into twenty-one sections. The first contract was let 13 September 1878, followed by
contracts with outside firms for the construction of each of the other sections. These were built
in mixed order after starting on the north, due both to commercial considerations and to
difficulties associated with soil conditions south of Market Street. By 1882, five sections were
complete or underway. By 1894, eleven sections were complete. By 1906, twelve sections were
complete. By 1910, a new section of the seawall, not originally planned, was built south of
China Basin. This was built to the standards of the Harbor Commissioners, but paid for by the
Santa Fe Railway Company which held a lease on the land behind it (BSHC 1910:28).

In 1909, a $9,000,000 bond issue was approved by the voters to hasten completion of the
seawall, among other projects. The remaining sections of the original projected seawall were
completed in May 1915 (San Francisco Examiner 1915b). Partly during the same period and
partly afterward, the seawall was extended at both ends. Between 1908 and 1910, under a
special agreement, the seawall was extended for 3000 feet south of China Basin to El Dorado
Street by the Santa Fe Railway (BSHC 1910:28). It was also extended south of Il Dorado Street
to the Central Basin, Islais Creek, and Hunter’s Point, mostly in the 1920s. By 1929, it was
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extended one block west of Taylor Street to Jones Street, to accommodate the construction of
Pier 45.

During its construction over a period of 37 years (1878 to 1915), the design of the original
seawall was altered and the structure was repaired, as explained in the Description section,
above. According to the Port’s engineers, the seawall has been little altered since portions of it
were raised in 1932 because of settling. Since that time, minor repairs have been made to
maintain its original function.

In 1988, the 1878 - 1915 seawall was determined eligible for the National Register as part of the
Section 106 process.

BULKHEAD WHARF

Figures illustrating the design of the seaws!! and the bilkhead wharf can be found after Section
11 at the end of this document together with a sketch map showing the sections of the bulkhead
wharf.

Introduction

Description

The bulkhead wharf as it exists in 2004 can best be understood as a linear concept which was
realized in many separately built structures which for the most part connect end to end and are
the most visible expression of the underlying seawall to which they are attached. In concept, the
bulkhead wharf is a linear feature parallel to the shoreline and on top of the seawall. Until about
1912, it was built in sections that corresponded to the twenty-one sections of the original seawall.
Since that time it has been rebuilt in a changing pattern tied more closely to the construction of
piers than to the sections of the extended 1878 — 1915 seawall. For purposes of the organization
of the nomination, and following an abandoned but iongtime practice of the past, the individual
segments of bulkhead wharf which were rebuilt in as many as six parts within any given seawall
section ate identified by the corresponding seawall section in which they are located, and
numbered from north to south. Although much of the bulkhead wharf was originally built of
wood before 1909, by 1919 most of the wood sections were replaced with new sections built of
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reinforced concrete and steel and by the 1930s all were replaced. Because the bulkhead wharf
covers an area roughly corresponding to the space between the center of the seawall and the
outer toe of the seawall (which is also the water front line), its design and dimensions depend on
the design of the seawall below it.

Above those portions of the seawall built before 1909, the bulkhead wharf is generally narrower
— as narrow as 27 feet according to one basic source (Newman 1915:326). (It is not clear why
some existing sections measure 10 and 23 feet.) In that period, the seawall was a symmetrical
structure with a flat top along its center. The concrete or concrete and steel deck of the bulkhead
wharf spanned from the top of the seawall to the water front line, roughly above the toe of the
seawall, supported by reinforced concrete piles.

Above those portions of the seawall built after 1909, the bulkhead wharf generally ranged from
51 to 60 feet in width. In that period, the seawall was built to a new design with a reinforced
concrete wall, often called a retaining wall, on the western edge of the top of the seawall, so that
the concrete or concrete and steel deck of the wharf, also supported by concrete piles, had a |
greater distance to span to the water front line.

Each wharf section has an asphalt surface. Most sections are furnished with mooring bitts —
shown on the original plans and installed when the wharves were built — for the dockage of sea
craft. In some places, buildings have been built on these wharves.

The following sections of the bulkhead wharf can be seen along the northeastern waterfront and
appear to have been little altered:

e Section 4: Between Pier 23 and 27

e Section 5: Between Pierl7 and Pier 19

e Section 5: In front of Pier 17

e Section 5: Between Pier 9 and Pier 15

e Section 6: Between Pier 5 and Pier 9

e Section 7: Between the Ferry Building and Pier 5

e Section 9: Between Pier 28 and Pier 30 (Here the whar! is about 27 feet 1n depth.)
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e Sections 10, 11a, 11: Between Pier 32 and Pier 36 (Here the wharf is about 23 feet in depth.)
e Section 12: Between Pier 36 and 38 (Here the wharf is about 10 feet in depth.)

The following sections of the bulkhead wharf have been completely or partially demolished:
e Section 9a: Between the foot of Folsom Street and the foot of Mission Street.

e Section 9 b: Between Pier 22V2 and Pier 24 Annex at the inshore end of the former Pier 24,
and between Pier 22V2 and the foot of Folsom Street.

The depth of a few segments of the bulkhead wharf have been greatly increased in recent
decades by connecting wharves. In such cases, the original structure still exists, but its original
dimensions are no longer discernable due to enlargement. One example is the connecting wharf
between Pier 15 and Pier 17, where all of the space between the piers was filled in 1956. The
space between Pier 27 and Pier 29 was also filled, obscuring the outline of the bulkhead wharf,
in 1967. The connecting wharf between Pier 31 and Pier 33 was increased in depth to about 160
feet at an unknown date. The wharf north of Pier 35 was widened in 1962.

In addition, other areas of the bulkhead wharf have been altered in character and function by
surface changes to accommodate public access, open space, and recreational uses, such as
between Pier 41 and Pier 35, in front of new Pier 7, and from Pier 40 to China Basin. The below
deck or substructure portions of these wharves remain intact from the period of significance.

Except for portions of the bulkhead wharf built in association with the Ferry Building in 1895,
the concrete bulkhead wharf was built between 1908 and 1936. During this period it was built
according to various types of designs and the organization of its construction varied.

At first, the parts of the concrete bulkhead wharf were built according to the numbering system
of the seawall sections. Beginning about 1912, they were usually buiit under the same contracts
as the piers — sometimes the bulkhead wharf and the pier were constructed as a single structure.
In the 1930s, several parts of the bulkhead wharf were built under separate contracts from the
piers.
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The earliest concrete bulkhead wharves, such as those in Sections 12, 11, and 7, were
complicated designs. Sections of the bulkhead wharf adjacent to piers or proposed piers were
built with heavier construction than between the piers. They were also a foot and a half higher in
elevation at the piers than between them. These were built with a mix of poured-in-place
concrete piles and timber piles encased in concrete. Their decks were steel I-beams encased in
concrete. The decks were supported on alignments of piles from the top of the seawall to the
water front line. At the piers, the decks rested on piles along the water front line itself. Between
the piers, the decks were cantilevered to the water front line from an outermost row of piles that
was a foot or more inshore of the water front line.

These complicated designs were succeeded briefly by simplified designs such as that for Section
11a. This was structurally consistent from one end to the other and from the top of the seawall to
the water front line. In this case, the deck was cantilevered to the water front line for its entire
length. The deck was a regular grid of be.:ms.

These early types were succeeded by the predominant type represented by Piers 2, 19, 29, 39,
and others. These were built on regular alignments of four or five precast concrete piles. The
decks were poured in place reinforced concrete slabs that rested on piles at the water front line.

A few parts of the bulkhead wharf were more complicated versions of the predominant type with
extra slab supports adjacent to the seawall and the outshore edge.

The section built for Pier 45 was unique because of the rock fill foundation of the pier. In this
case, the bulkhead wharf was built largely through rock fill rather than over water. Also, the
pattern of piles was not a series of straight alignments but the result of the collision of grids
established by the line of the seawall and by the diagonal orientation of Pier 45.

In every case, additional supports were built into the decks for the alignments of rail spurs
crossing the bulkhead wharf to the pier.

While the parts of the bulkhead wharf were built over the course of a 35 year period, under many
different organizations (i.e., with a pier, without a pie1, within a seawall section), and many
different designs, they were tied together end to end and form a conceptually unified feature.
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The individual parts of the bulkhead wharf are described by seawall section number from north
to south, below (see Bulkhead Wharf map in Additional Documentation section at the end of this
report).

Construction History

The bulkhead wharf was built along the top of the seawall in order to connect piers to the seawall
and the Embarcadero and to provide berthing space for ships at the very outer edge of the
seawall, which corresponded with the legally designated water front line. Because ships could
not have come any closer to shore than the toe of the seawall, without the bulkhead wharf they
would have remained as much as 60 feet away from the top of the seawall and the City Base.
There would have been no way to load or unload ships along the seawall without the bulkhead
wharf.

The design, dimensions, and materials of the bulkhead wharf are closely associated with the
history of the seawall. The bulkhead wharf was built, repaired, and rebuilt in the same 21
sections as the seawall until about 1912. From 1878 to 1909, the bulkhead wharf was as narrow
as 27 feet because the seawall was a symmetrical embankment and the inner edge of the
bulkhead wharf rested on a 10-foot surface along the top of the center of the seawall (Newman
1915:326). Within that period, the bulkhead wharf was built of wood. The bulkhead wharf
consisted of wood piles driven through the rock embankment of the seawall. These piles
supported a wooden deck. At the outer edge of the wharf, at the water front line, were wood
fender piles (Crane 1882:plate). Until 1909, a wood bulkhead wharf was included in each
contract to build a section of the seawall.

In 1909, a program was established to replace wood sections of the bulkhead wharf with
reinforced concrete and steel structures. According to the engineer in charge, the new concrete
bulkhead wharves had the advantages of being ‘“absolutely fireproof and they afford no
opportunity for vermin te exist.” (BSHC 1910:23, 34) Shortly thereafter, the Harbor
Commissioners announced that wood sections of the bulkhead wharf would normally be replaced
by a concrete bulkhead wharf whenever a new pier was built in a section with an old bulkhead
wharf structure. At the same time, “it was decided that the use of creosoted piling in certain
cases would be preferable to the exclusive use of reinforced concrete.” (BSHC 1914:33) The
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port experimented with poured-in-place reinforced concrete piles, precast concrete piles, and
wood piles encased in concrete. Within a few years, most piles were precast but wood piles
encased in concrete continued to be used at the edges and outer ends of piers because of their
greater resiliency.

A by-product of the reconstruction of the bulkhead wharf in concrete was associated with the
construction of a reinforced concrete “retaining wall” along the top of the loose seawall which
provided a uniform surface in the right location for the inshore side of the bulkhead wharf: “The
building of the new seawall and bulkhead in their true legally established locations has resulted
in a very substantial and much-needed increase in the width of the Embarcadero, most of it from
15 to 45 feet, and over some notable stretches about 100 feet wider.” (BSHC 1916: 23)

The wider sidewalk that this made possible, often built under the same contract as the bulkhead
wharf, was labeled “esplanade” on port plans and Sanborn maps.

By mid-1918, all the sections of the bulkhead wharf between Pier 7 and the south side of Pier 19
were rebuilt in concrete. In addition, sections (9a and 9b) between Howard and Harrison streets,
only recently constructed, were raised to compensate for settling of the seawall (BSHC 1919:38).
As the bulkhead wharf was rebuilt, it appears to have generally conformed to the widths of the
previous bulkhead wharf for the same reason — because the seawall sections underneath were
designed differently.

The bulkhead wharf was reconstructed in phases that did not precisely correspond to the twenty-
one sections of the seawall. In fact, by 1915 the port no longer used the seawall section numbers
when referring to sections of the bulkhead wharf. For several years, new parts of the bulkhead
wharf were built under the same contracts as piers and were referred to in association with the
pier number. Some of the last parts of the bulkhead wharf were built under separate contracts
but were still generally referred to by pier number.

Tables of information on all piers and wharves in the Biennial Report of 1922 listed only a few
sections of the bulkhead wharf that had not been completely rebuilt at that time: at piers 5, 19,
25, and in Section B (BSHC 1923:table). In 1931, the San Francisco Chronicle reported that,
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“One of the biggest and most difficult undertakings in the proposed replacement program of the
Board will be the reconstruction of bulkhead sections between Piers 14 and 24. Some of these
structures have sunk two feet or more . . .”(Roberts 1931).

Replacement of even those sections of the bulkhead wharf that were relatively simple to replace
was time consuming and expensive. First, the wood piles of the old structure had to be removed.
Then, reinforced concrete piles were driven through the rock embankment of the seawall.

While the term bulkhead wharf, strictly speaking, refers to the wharf above the seawall or the
bulkhead, it was also sometimes used to refer to sections of the wharf that were parallel to the
shoreline but that extended over the water beyond the edge of the seawall. Specifically, this was
done between several pairs of piers — Piers 29 and 31, Piers 19 and 23, Piers 26 and 28, and
Piers 30 and 32 (BSHC 1919:20; BSHC [1928]:map).

The bulkhead wharf was designed for the berthing of ships, as evidenced by mooring bitts or
bollards on most sections of the wharf. Photographs show cargo ships alongside piers tied up by
lines to the bulkhead wharf. In addition, smaller ships — lighters, barges, tugs, and others —
were tied up at the bulkhead wharf. Trucks loaded with cargo also used the whart, and cargo
was piled on the wharf.

The wharf also supports buildings, notably the bulkhead buildings at the Embarcadero ends of
most piers, housing offices, ticket agencies, and waiting rooms. On the old wood bulkhead
wharf, Sanborn maps show many small one- and two-story wood buildings. These were
generally located between the piers, with the wharf at the head of the pier unobstructed, allowing
space for teams of horse to pull loads on and off the piers.

While there were some small buildings on the bulkhead wharf at the heads of the piers, none had
a bulkhead building in the sense that it later came to be understood — a building on the bulkhead
wharf at the inshore end of the pier that usually extended up and down the bulkhead wharf
beyond the sides of the pier. The first new concrete bulkhead wharves were also built without
bulkhead buildings. The 1913-1915 Sanborn maps show a pattern along most of the bulkhead
wharf that was little changed from before. About that time, however, a new pattern emerged
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with large bulkhead buildings at the heads of piers, often extending up and down the bulkhead
wharf, and fewer small buildings on the bulkhead wharf. Those which were there were between
the piers. Thus, the pattern was reversed. The pattern of buildings on the bulkhead wharf
changed around the time the bulkhead wharves were rebuilt. However, the building pattern is
related to other factors, such as expanded use of the Belt Railroad, evolving cargo handling
methods, and security.

Freestanding structures for the chief wharfinger and assistant wharfingers, for shipping offices,
for stevedoring companies, for offices, and for restaurants have all been built on the bulkhead
wharf. Among these, only a few restaurants survive. Today, in addition to major structures like
the Ferry Building, Agriculture Building, and bulkhead buildings, there are several freestanding
buildings on the bulkhead wharf within the district in the traditional pattern — the Franciscan
Restaurant near Pier 43Y2, Pier 29 Annex (Belt Railroad Office Building), the Pier 23 Restaurant,
the Pier 28%2 Restaurant, and Java House (near Pier 40). In 1978-1980, following a new pattern,
buildings at Pier 41V2 and Pier 39 were built partly on the bulkhead wharf.

Pier 45 Section

See also Pier 45 (Contributing Resource) and Section B of the bulkhead wharf (Non-
Contributing Resource).

Description

Summary

The Pier 45 section of the bulkhead wharf is a reinforced concrete structure built in 1926-1929
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